THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2020-000462

Grange Mutual Casualty and Trustguard Insurance
Company.....Respondents,

v.

20/20 Auto Glass, LLC.....Petitioner/Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT 20/20 AUTO GLASS, LLC

December 28, 2020

Joshua M. Henderson
HENDERSON, BRANDT & VIETH, P.A.
360 East Henry Street, Suite 101
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29302
(864) 582-2962

Charles J. Lloyd
LIVGARD & LLOYD, P.L.L.P.
PO Box 14906
Minneapolis, MN 55414
(612) 825-7777

Other Counsel of Record
Wesley B. Sawyer, Esq.
MURPHY & GRANTLAND, P.A.
P.O. Box 6648

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether this Court's decision in *Narruhn v. Alea London Ltd.*, 404 S.C. 337, 745 S.E. 2d, 90 (S.C. 2013) and the legislature's enactment of SC Code § 38-57-75 alleged the legal landscape for unilateral contracts in auto glass repair and replacement subsequent to the court of appeals decision in *Southern Glass & Plastics v. Kemper*, 399 S.C. 483, 732 S.E.2d 205 (S.C. Ct. App. 2012).
2. Whether a unilateral contract was formed despite 20/20 expressly rejecting Grange's offer and there was no meeting of the minds between Grange and 20/20.
3. Whether a unilateral contract was formed when Grange only offered to do what it was contractually obligated to do under the insurance policy, and then paid an amount different than what it initially offered.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case comes to this Court on a writ of certiorari review of an unpublished opinion of the court of appeals affirming the judgment of the Anderson County Court of Common Pleas, Hon. R. Scott Sprouse presiding. On August 21, 2014, Grange Mutual Casualty and Trustgard Insurance Company commenced the declaratory judgment action below against 20/20 Auto Glass, LLC, after 20/20 invoked an appraisal remedy to resolve disputes over reimbursements of a handful of claims for replacement of broken automobile glass.

On October 26, 2016, the matter was tried to the court below on stipulated facts. On December 6, 2016, the trial court entered its order for judgment for the insurers and against 20/20 declaring that 20/20 was contractually bound to the insurers' reimbursement rates because it accepted those rates when it performed the work and created a unilateral contract with the insurers, that 20/20 was not underpaid and the insurers owed 20/20 nothing further on the glass claims at issue, that the insurers did not breach their insurance policies and that the insurers were not obligated to participate in the appraisal process as demanded by 20/20. On December 16, 2016, 20/20 moved the trial court to alter, amend or reconsider its order. The court denied that motion and 20/20 received written notice of entry of the order on January 18, 2017. On February 10, 2017, 20/20 served its notice of appeal. The court of appeals affirmed the judgment of the circuit court. *Grange Mutual Casualty and Trustguard Insurance Company v. 20/20 Auto Glass, LLC*, Op. No. 2019-UP-419 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed December 31, 2019). On January 15, 2020, 20/20 petitioned the court of appeals to reconsider its order. The court of appeals denied 20/20's motion by an order dated February 10, 2020. 20/20 then filed its petition for writ of certiorari with this Court, which was granted on November 25, 2020.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews all the issues *de novo* and gives no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions because this case was tried on stipulated facts. *WDW Props. v. City of Sumter*, 342 S.C. 6, 10, 535 S.E.2d 631, 632 (S.C. 2000) (“When an appeal involves stipulated or undisputed facts, an appellate court is free to review whether the trial court properly applied the law to those facts”); *J.K. Constr. Inc. v. W. Carolina Reg'l Sewer Auth.*, 336 S.C. 162, 166, 519 S.E.2d 561, 563 (S.C. 1999) (where an appeal arises on stipulated facts, “the appellate court owes no particular deference to the trial court's legal conclusions.”).

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

This is a dispute over how Grange Mutual and Trustgard Insurance reimburse 20/20 Auto Glass for claims arising out of the replacement of broken automobile glass. Although there is a contract which specifies both the insurers' reimbursement obligation and the mechanism by which disputes are to be resolved – the insurance policies issued by Grange and Trustgard¹ – the insurers in this instance sought to bind 20/20 to a process not contemplated by the insurance contracts.

The facts underlying the appeal were stipulated to by the parties and are not in dispute. R. pp. 90-179. 20/20 Auto Glass is a small South Carolina limited

¹ For the remainder of this brief, the respondents will be referred to as Grange.

liability company in the business of repairing and replacing damaged automobile glass. R. p. 91 Stipulated Facts ¶ 2. For customers with insurance coverage for damaged glass, 20/20 receives an assignment of the insurance proceeds owed by the insurance company as payment by the customer for the work performed. R. p. 96 Stipulated Facts ¶ 35-36. 20/20 then bills and collects from the insurance company directly. *See, e.g.*, R. p. 99 Stipulated Facts ¶¶ 56-57. That is exactly what occurred in each claim at issue in this case. R. pp. 98-105 Stipulated Facts ¶¶ 49-100.

As part of the process, 20/20 and its customer, the Grange policyholder, notify Grange of the claim by contacting Safelite Solutions, Grange's third-party claims administrator. R. p. 94, 91; Stipulated Facts ¶¶ 25, 6. During the telephone call where the report was made, Safelite, on Grange's behalf, asked the customer whether they had chosen a glass shop to perform the repairs; for all claims here the customer chose 20/20 Auto Glass. R. p. 97; Stipulated Facts ¶¶ 42-43. The Safelite representative also proposed pricing to 20/20 for the glass replacement work. R. p. 97; Stipulated Facts ¶ 44. 20/20 expressly rejected pricing it found to be unreasonable. R. p. 94, 95; Stipulated Facts ¶¶ 26, 32. The Safelite representative then, among other things, told the customer that the customer may be responsible for additional amounts charged by 20/20 over what Grange is willing to pay. R. pp. 97-98; Stipulated Facts ¶ 46. 20/20 assured the customer

there would be no out-of-pocket expense to the customer. R. p. 97; Stipulated Facts ¶ 45. During the calls, each customer indicated their understanding of the terms and chose to proceed with 20/20 to replace the auto glass. R. p. 98; Stipulated Facts ¶ 47.

In addition to rejecting the pricing Safelite offered on Grange's behalf during the phone call, 20/20 had previously sent a letter to Safelite, stating specifically that 20/20 rejected any effort by Safelite to set prices and that all future offers of pricing were rejected absent a written agreement signed by someone acting for 20/20. R. pp. 95, 145; Stipulated Facts ¶ 32, Exhibit C. The letter further noted that the rejection of Safelite's rates would be documented by the invoices ultimately submitted by 20/20 for the glass repair or replacement work performed.

Although 20/20 rejected the pricing both in writing and verbally over the telephone when the claim was reported, Safelite on Grange's behalf, faxed a claim confirmation/referral sheet to 20/20 for each claim which again set forth the pricing Grange sought to pay for the work. R. pp. 95-96, 147, 160, 168; Stipulated Facts ¶ 33, Exhibits D, J and N. The referral sheets, however, contained contradictory information about pricing. On the one hand, they stated that "Performance of the services constitutes acceptance of the communicated price and billing instructions." *See, e.g.*, R. p. 147; Stipulated Facts Exhibit D. On the other,

they indicated that if the cost of the claim would exceed \$1,000 – the quoted price on every claim in dispute in this case was always less than \$1,000 – then approval needed to be obtained from Safelite. *See, e.g.*, R. p. 147; Stipulated Facts Exhibit D. The referral sheets also indicated that the glass shop should contact Safelite, Grange’s third-party administrator for, among other things, “other charges.” *Id.* That language is curious because had the price been intended to be binding as Grange has asserted here, there would be no “other charges” and it would not be possible for the claim to exceed \$1,000.

20/20 then performs the replacement work for its customer. Instead of accepting Grange’s pricing offer, 20/20 received payment from its customer by the customer executing an assignment of the insurance proceeds owed by Grange to the customer. R. p. 96; Stipulated Facts ¶¶35-36. Significantly, the insurance coverage at issue is property damage insurance, it is not a reimbursement insurance. The insurance company owes a debt to the policyholder immediately upon the damage being sustained, whether the damage is ever repaired. The policyholder, 20/20’s customer, transfers that debt to 20/20 via the assignment as payment for the work performed. 20/20 then submits its invoice for the work to Grange. In each instance at issue here, 20/20 did not comply with either the billing instructions or the pricing provided by Grange in the confirmation documents. The

submission of the invoice was the one and only way 20/20 notified Grange that the work had been performed.

The existence and validity of the assignments is not in dispute. Grange paid 20/20 directly in accordance with the assignment of proceeds. R. pp. 99, 101, 103, 104, and 105 Stipulated Facts ¶¶ 57, 71, 83, 87, 93, and 98. The dispute arises because Grange paid less than the amount invoiced.² Subsequent to trying to resolve the dispute by sending follow up invoices, *see, e.g.*, R. pp. 100, 155-56 Stipulated Facts ¶¶ 59-60 and Exh. H, 20/20 sent a demand to appraise the loss to resolve the dispute. *See, e.g.*, R. pp. 100, 158 Stipulated Facts ¶ 61, Exh. I. Grange responded to the demands for appraisal by commencing the action underlying this appeal.

ARGUMENT

The issues before this Court revolve around the finding that a unilateral contract was created when 20/20 replaced its customers' damaged automobile glass. There were multiple issues associated with the underlying action that are not at presented in this appeal; the trial court resolved those issues when it determined that a unilateral contract was created. *See* Trial Court Order, Conclusions of Law ¶¶ 8-11. In essence, once it was determined that there was a unilateral contract, that conclusion resolved whether Grange fulfilled its contractual obligations to its

² For the remainder of this brief, the respondents will be referred to as Grange.

policyholders and whether 20/20 had any ability to demand an appraisal. As a result, reversal by this Court requires that the case be remanded to the trial court to address the merits of the remaining issues presented by the declaratory judgment action and the counterclaim.

- 1. This Court's 2013 decision in *Narruhn v. Alea London Ltd.* and the legislature's enactment of S.C. Code § 38-57-75 in 2013 makes creation of a unilateral contract on these facts impossible as a matter of law.**

The reliance by the courts below on a decision of the South Carolina Court of Appeals from 2012, ignoring subsequent developments in both the jurisprudence of this state and the South Carolina Code, constitutes manifest error and requires reversal. The trial court relied nearly exclusively on *Southern Glass & Plastics v. Kemper*, 399 S.C. 483, 732 S.E.2d 205 (S.C. App. 2012), in concluding that the conduct of the parties created a binding unilateral contract that precluded 20/20 from seeking an amount beyond what Grange paid on each of the subject claims. The trial court, however, failed to analyze the impact of this Court's opinion in *Narruhn v. Alea London Ltd.*, 404 S.C. 337, 745 S.E.2d 90 (S.C. 2013), decided after *Southern Glass*, and further failed to address how the legislature's adoption of S.C. Code § 38-57-75, enacted after *Southern Glass*, affected Grange's ability to assert the existence of a unilateral contract. Both developments clarify that Grange is precluded as a matter of law from asserting that a unilateral contract exists in this case.

The underlying premise of Grange's position is relatively simple: its agent, Safelite, communicates to 20/20 the amount that Grange desires to pay for replacement of damaged automobile glass and includes within the written communication of that proposed reimbursement rate language, indicating that 20/20's performance of the work constitutes acceptance of Grange's proposed pricing. In Grange's view, if 20/20 does not agree with that pricing, 20/20's only option is to refuse to do the work. While there are several issues with that analysis that will be discussed below, the underlying law in South Carolina, at least as of 2013, eviscerates Grange's position because 20/20 can avoid the unilateral contract by means other than simply refusing to do the work.

In *Narruhn*, this Court made clear that policyholders have the unfettered ability, post-loss, to assign the policy proceeds owed without interference by the insurance company. Specifically, the Court wrote:

As a general principle, a clause restricting assignment does not in any way limit the policyholder's power to make an assignment of the rights under the policy ... after a loss has occurred.... It is now a vested claim against the insurer and can be freely assigned or sold like any other chose in action or piece of property.

Narruhn, 404 S.C. at 344, 745 S.E.2d at 94 (quoting *Williston on Contracts* § 49:126 (4th ed. 2000)).

Narruhn is important to this case in three ways: First, it unequivocally establishes that the claim vests at the time of loss; in other words, Grange owes its

policyholders a debt as soon as the insured property – in this case, the vehicle’s glass – is damaged. Second, it unequivocally allows the policyholder to assign or sell the claim/debt “like any other chose in action or piece of property.” Here, *Narruhn* permits 20/20’s customers, who are Grange insureds, to pay 20/20 for its glass replacement services by assigning the debts they are owed by Grange in the same way that the customers could pay with cash, check, credit card or anything else of value that 20/20 would be willing to accept. Third, *Narruhn* also stands for the proposition that insurers like Grange cannot interfere with that assignment. In doing so, *Narruhn* makes it impossible for an insurer to claim that it can pay to an assignee like 20/20 something other than the full amount of the debt owed to the policyholder.

Standing alone, *Narruhn* requires reversal of the decisions below. It is not, however, the solitary legal basis for 20/20’s argument. The legislature enacted several provisions within S.C. Code § 38-57-75 that further negate any claim of a unilateral contract being created here. Specifically, section 38-57-75(A) legislatively protects a consumer’s right to select a glass replacement facility to perform the service on the consumer’s vehicle: “When an insured has suffered damage to the glass of a motor vehicle, ‘vehicle glass,’ both the insurer providing glass coverage and the third party administrator that administers glass coverage for that insurer must not require that repairs be made to the insured’s vehicle by a

particular provider of glass repair work.” Protecting the right to choose a glass service provider is reiterated in section 38-57-75 (E)(2): The insurer or third party administrator “must inform the insured that he or she may use the requested provider of choice....”

The statute expressly permits glass replacement service providers, like 20/20, to reject insurance company proposed pricing and not be bound by that pricing upon performance of the work. Specifically, the statute states:

When an insured requests to have covered glass repair work performed by a provider of choice who is not a member of the insurer’s or third party administrator’s vehicle repair program or preferred provider list, the insurer or third party administrator:

- (1) must confirm that the provider agrees to perform the repair at the insurer’s fair and reasonable rate of reimbursement. *If the provider refuses to accept the rate*, the insurer or third party administrator may inform the insured that he will be responsible for additional costs. If the provider agrees to accept the fair and reasonable rates, no further statements regarding costs shall occur and the provider must be paid the agreed fair and reasonable rate of reimbursement.

S.C. Code 38-57-75(E)(1) (emphasis added). If insurers could bind glass replacement companies to the insurers’ rates of reimbursement as Grange attempted to do to 20/20 here, there would be no need for this provision in the statute; glass companies could not refuse to accept the insurers’ rates and there would never be a need to inform the policyholder of any potential personal liability.

In the present case, the parties' conduct tracked *Narruhn* and the code until Grange sought to claim the existence of unilateral contracts. The damage to the windshield occurred before the insured contacted 20/20 or Grange. The debt owed under the policy vested when the windshield was damaged; the amount due under the insurance policy and the debt owed by Grange was fixed at that point in time. The customer assigned its insurance proceeds to 20/20, a glass company of its choosing, in exchange for work. R. pp. 96-97; Stipulated Facts ¶¶ 35-36 and 42-43. Grange, which cannot object to the company the customer chose, informed the customer they may be responsible for additional amounts charged by 20/20. R. pp. 97-98; Stipulated Facts ¶ 46. Last, 20/20 rejected Grange's pricing and performed the replacement. R. pp. 94, 95; Stipulated Facts ¶¶ 26, 32.

Grange's entire unilateral contract argument focuses on events that happen after the damage occurred and the claim vested. These events are irrelevant to the insured's ability to assign its claim to 20/20 in exchange for 20/20 to repair the insured's windshield. Grange's attempt to reduce a debt owed under its insurance policy that has already vested is an effort to prevent the assignment of the debt, the chose in action, which is plainly not permitted in South Carolina after *Narruhn*.

To conclude that following the procedure in the statutes still establishes a unilateral contract would permit Grange to offer pricing knowing that 20/20 would never accept it as a way of circumventing the statutorily protected consumer

choice, and allow Grange to create a barrier to transferring the chose in action that this Court plainly held is impermissible, rendering the statute meaningless. In short, *Southern Glass*, and the courts' decisions below relying on *Southern Glass*, cannot be squared with this Court's decision in *Narruhn* and the enactment of S.C. Code § 38-57-75.

To put it another way, in this situation, 20/20 has two competing offers available to it for payment for its services. On one side is the offer from the insurer to be paid at a particular price – an offer 20/20 expressly and repeatedly rejected. R. pp. 94-95, 145; Stipulated Facts ¶ 26, 32, Exhibit C. On the other side is the offer from the customer, Grange's policyholder, to pay 20/20 by assigning the full amount of the policy proceeds owed by Grange. 20/20 absolutely may reject Grange's offer and accept the offer from the customer without Grange interfering in that bargain. 20/20 could have agreed to Grange's pricing but it did not as the legislature anticipated may occur. S.C. Code. §38-57-75(E)(1). The ability of customers to assign their vested claims cannot be restricted by the insurer according to *Narruhn*. That is exactly what Grange is attempting in this instance and what the courts below, contrary to *Narruhn*, allowed.

Applying the case law governing the validity of post-loss assignments of insurance proceeds and the code provisions granting consumers the right to choose auto glass service providers as well as permitting those providers to expressly

reject pricing offered by insurers makes it legally impossible for Grange to successfully claim that a unilateral contract was formed when 20/20 performed replacement services for its customers. Because the court of appeals affirmed the trial court's legally erroneous conclusion that unilateral contracts existed in this instance, that decision must be reversed and the matter remanded to the trial court.

2. A unilateral contract could not be created because 20/20 did not accept Grange's offer and there was no meeting of the minds.

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