IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Feb 08 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000462

Grange Mutual Casualty and Trustgard Insurance
Company,..... Respondents,

v.

20/20 Auto Glass, LLC..... Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Wesley B. Sawyer, Esquire
(SC Bar No. 100229)
Ronald B. Diegel, Esquire
(SC Bar No. 65076)
Murphy & Grantland, P.A.
P.O. Box 6648
Columbia, SC 29260
(803) 782-4100
Email: wsawyer@murphygrantland.com
rbdiegel@murphygrantland.com
Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

Applying *Kemper* – a case with identical relevant facts – the courts below properly held that 20/20 entered into a unilateral contract with Grange. The formation of a unilateral contract requires three elements – a specific offer, communication of the offer, and performance by the

offeree – each of which were met in this case. With respect to the first two elements, the Circuit Court found as a factual matter that Grange communicated the price it was willing to pay for the glass repair services and sent a referral sheet stating that “performance of services constitutes acceptance of the communicated price and billing instructions.” Despite its arguments on appeal, 20/20 stipulated that the offers were unambiguous and that it understood the offers. (R. p. 95, ¶¶ 28 & 30-31; p. 42:16-43:19). After reviewing the evidence, the Circuit Court factually found the offers were unambiguous. (R. p. 8, ¶¶ 12-15). With respect to the third element, after Appellant received the unambiguous offers and without any further communications between 20/20 and Grange, 20/20 performed the glass repair services. Therefore, 20/20 entered into binding unilateral contracts with Grange to perform the glass repair services at the price previously established by Grange. When Grange paid that amount to 20/20 for the glass repair services, Grange satisfied its obligations under the unilateral contracts with 20/20 and under the insurance policy.

The courts below properly applied the Court of Appeals’ prior holding in *Kemper*. The decision in *Kemper* followed holdings from multiple other jurisdictions that found unilateral contracts under similar circumstances. In *Kemper*, the Court of Appeals fully analyzed the unilateral contract case cited by Appellant and correctly found it distinguishable. Because the Circuit Court made factual findings establishing each element of a unilateral contract, the decision should be affirmed.

Rather than addressing *Kemper*, Appellant makes “red herring” arguments concerning lack of consideration, the glass claims handling statute, and the *Narruhn* decision – each of which are without merit. The unilateral contract was supported by adequate consideration, specifically a promise to pay money. The glass claims handling statute codified and approved the transaction at issue here and in *Kemper*. Additionally, the *Narruhn* decision – addressing standing for Rule 60(b)

motions – is inapplicable to this unilateral contract case. Therefore, the Circuit Court’s decision should be affirmed, and Appellant’s requested relief should be denied.

I. Under well-established principles of contract law and as the Court of Appeals held in *Kemper*, 20/20’s performance of work after receiving a clear offer from Grange formed a unilateral contract between Grange and 20/20.

Grange communicated the price that it was willing to pay to 20/20 before any work was performed. Grange specified that performance constituted acceptance of the offer. Then, after receiving the referral sheet with the offered price but without any further communication, 20/20 performed the work. As the Court of Appeals held in *Kemper*, performance after receiving an unambiguous unilateral contract offer constitutes acceptance of the offer and the creation of a binding unilateral contract.

A. On facts that are materially identical to those in this case, the Court of Appeals in *Kemper* found a unilateral contract.

“A unilateral contract is formed when one party makes a promise and expressly or impliedly invites the other party to perform some act as a condition for making the promise binding on the promisor.” *Kemper*, 399 S.C. at 492, 732 S.E.2d at 210 (quoting *CIM Ins. Corp. v. Cascade Auto Glass, Inc.*, 190 N.C. App. 808, 811, 660 S.E.2d 907, 910 (2008)). A valid offer “identifies the bargained for exchange and creates a power of acceptance in the offeree.” *Saunder v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of S.C.*, 354 S.C. 397, 406, 581 S.E.2d 161, 166 (2003). The offeree accepts the offer “by performing the act on which the promise was impliedly or expressly based.” *Small v. Springs Indus., Inc.*, 292 S.C. 481, 484, 357 S.E.2d 452, 454 (1987); *Saunder*, 354 S.C. at 405, 581 S.E.2d at 165-66 (“A unilateral contract occurs when there is only one promisor and the other party accepts, not by mutual promise, but by actual performance.” (citation omitted)).

The classic example of a unilateral contract includes an offer by a homeowner for a painter to paint his home for a fixed price, stating “I will pay you \$50 if you paint my house.” *Vanegas v.*

American Energy Svcs., 302 S.W.3d 299, 303 (Tex. 2009). The painter accepts the offer by performance – i.e., painting the home. The homeowner cannot attempt to decrease the price after the painter has completed the task. Likewise, the painter cannot paint the home and then demand that the homeowner pay more than the offered price. By doing the work, the painter has accepted the contract. *See id.* (“But once the individual accepts the offer by performing, the promise to pay the \$50 becomes binding.”).

A unilateral contract has three elements: (1) a specific offer, (2) communication of the offer, and (3) performance by the offeree. *Prescott v. Farmers Telephone Co-Op, Inc.*, 335 S.C. 330, 337, 516 S.E.2d 923, 926 (1999). Like the transaction in *Kemper*, each element is satisfied in this case.

Looking at each element of a unilateral contract, the first and second elements are satisfied here by Grange’s communication of a clear offer to 20/20. Grange communicated its fair and reasonable price in three ways: (1) via fax to all of its network and non-network glass repair shops; (2) during the three-way call with 20/20 and its insured; and (3) via the referral sheet. Grange then paid that amount once it was billed. Acceptance took place when 20/20 performed the work. Thus, a unilateral contract exists between Grange and 20/20.

i. Grange satisfied the first two elements of a unilateral contract – specific offer and communication of offer – when it made a clear offer to 20/20 and stated that performance constituted acceptance.

In *Kemper*, the Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment in favor of an insurer on nearly identical facts. The insurer in *Kemper* – like Grange here – notified glass repair shops of its fair and reasonable rates for glass repair claims. 399 S.C. at 487, 732 S.E.2d at 207. After an insured’s vehicle suffered a glass breakage, the insured approached the glass repair company. *Id.* The insurer’s third-party administrator, the glass repair shop, and the insured then participated in a three-way call. *Id.* During the call, the third-party administrator communicated the amount the

insurer was willing to pay. *Id.* Then, after the call, the insurer sent a referral sheet that reiterated the offered price. *Id.* The referral sheet stated: “Performance of services constitutes acceptance of the communicated price and billing instructions.” *Id.* at 488, 732 S.E.2d at 207. After the glass repair shop performed the work, it tried to bill the insurer for more than the agreed price. *Id.*

Under these identical facts, the Court of Appeals in *Kemper* affirmed summary judgment for the insurer, finding a clear offer from the insurer to enter into a unilateral contract. By performing the work, the glass repair shop accepted the offer, thus forming the contract. *Id.* The Court of Appeals held it was the shop’s performance of the work after receiving the written referral sheet that created the unilateral contract, not the words spoken during the call.³ *Id.* at 498, 732 S.E.2d at 213 (“Additionally, a unilateral contract was created by Southern Glass’s *performing* the work on Kemper’s insureds, not by Southern Glass’s verbal response.”) (emphasis in original). Therefore, the holding in *Kemper* squarely applies to this case.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals in *Kemper* did not reach its decision in a vacuum. Instead, it looked to other jurisdictions, including North Carolina. In *CIM Ins. Corp. v. Cascade Auto Glass, Inc.*, the North Carolina Court of Appeals granted summary judgment in favor of a group of insurers on similar facts. Notably, the North Carolina Court of Appeals highlighted the many ways the insurers communicated the amount they were willing to pay for the repair services prior to performance of the work:

The court found the prices were communicated (1) via letter to defendant’s shops, (2) via telephone when initial claims were made, (3) via confirmation fax after claims were made but before work was

³ Like 20/20 here, the glass repair shop in *Kemper* stated that it informed Safelite “on more than one occasion” that it did not accept the insurer’s prices. *Id.* at 488, 732 S.E.2d at 208. However, the insurer submitted a transcript of one of the phone calls indicating that glass repair shop failed to object to the price during one of the calls. *Id.* The Court of Appeals found this evidence immaterial because the glass repair shop’s actions created the contract, not its words.

performed, and (4) via eventual payment of invoices at the GMAC rate.

Kemper, 399 S.C. at 492, 732 S.E.2d at 209-210 (citing *CIM Ins. Corp.*, 190 N.C. App. at 812, 732 S.E.2d at 910). These are precisely the same ways in which Grange communicated the amount it was willing to pay 20/20 for the repair services here. (R. pp. 10-11, ¶ 7). Grange communicated the pricing or rates in four ways: (1) via its April 15, 2011 letter to glass repair shops, which 20/20 received; (2) via telephone during the three-way call with the Grange insured, 20/20 and the Grange representative; (3) via confirmation letter or fax of the referral sheet after claims were made but before the work was performed; and (4) via eventual payment of 20/20 invoices at the Grange rate. (R. pp. 10-11, ¶ 7).⁴

As in *Kemper* and *CIM Ins. Corp.*, the first and second requirements for a unilateral contract in this case were satisfied when Grange communicated specific offers to 20/20 stating the price it was willing to pay for the glass repair services. The Circuit Court found Grange unambiguously communicated the price it was willing to pay 20/20 for the glass repair services. (R. pp. 8, ¶ 14). Although 20/20 now claims the offers were ambiguous, the Circuit Court found 20/20 understood Grange's pricing structure and did not find the pricing or rates to be vague or ambiguous. (R. p. 8, ¶ 14) ("20/20 Auto Glass did not find the pricing and rates communicated by

⁴ 20/20 makes much of the fact that it objected to the price. However, "[i]t is a fundamental concept of contract law that the offeror is the master of his offer. He is entitled to require acceptance in precise conformity with his offer before a contract is formed." *CIM Ins. Corp.*, 190 N.C. App. At 812, 660 S.E.2d at 910; *see also Dargan v. Page*, 222 S.C. 520, 533, 73 S.E.2d 705, 711 (1952) (stating that a contract which is "unilateral in character" gives the offeree "a right and privilege which only by strict compliance with the terms" can be transformed into a binding contract). As discussed below, if 20/20 disagreed with the price, it could: (1) refuse to perform the work; (2) accept the insurance payment and collect the difference from the insured; or (3) contract directly with the customer for payment for the work. Rather than doing any of the foregoing, 20/20 accepted Grange's unilateral offer by performing the repairs, knowing that Grange would not pay more than the price it clearly specified.

the claims representative or contained in the referral sheets to be ambiguous, but understood it to mean that Grange did not agree to pay any amount greater than the stated pricing or rates.”). That finding is based on 20/20’s own admissions that: (1) “The pricing that the insurance company is willing to pay is always communicated during the phone call;”⁵ (2) the claims representative tells 20/20 “the insurance company only agrees to pay a specific rate for the job;”⁶ (3) “20/20 Auto Glass does not believe the claims representative’s response is vague or ambiguous;”⁷ and (4) the rate is always stated – either by specific price or by formula – in the referral sheet.⁸ Based on these facts and the other evidence in the record, the Circuit Court found:

[T]he undisputed facts establish that the unilateral contracts contained clear offers and were supported by adequate consideration. Although 20/20 Auto Glass may not like the pricing terms of the unilateral contract offer that was made by Grange, it is undisputed that they understood what those pricing terms were before they performed the job.

(R. p. 13, ¶ 13). Thus, the Circuit Court reviewed the evidence and found that Grange made a specific offer and communicated that offer to 20/20, satisfying the first two elements of a unilateral contract.

ii. By performing the work after receiving a clear offer, 20/20 accepted Grange’s offer and formed a binding unilateral contract.

When 20/20 performed the glass repair services, it satisfied the third “performance” requirement for a unilateral contract. 20/20 performed the glass repair services after receiving the referral sheet with Grange’s offered price and without any further communication to Grange or

⁵ (R. p. 95, ¶ 28).

⁶ (R. p. 95, ¶ 30).

⁷ (R. p. 95, ¶ 31).

⁸ See e.g., (R. p. 99, ¶ 52, p. 160).

Grange's representative.⁹ In *Kemper*, the Court of Appeals held that the glass repair shop's performance of the repairs constituted acceptance of the offer. *Id.* at 497, 732 S.E.2d at 212 ("By proceeding with the work after receiving notice of the prices via phone conversation and fax, Southern Glass accepted the prices."). The same transaction occurred here. After Grange sent referral sheets to 20/20 stating the amount it was willing to pay and that "[p]erformance of services constitutes acceptance of the communicated price and billing instructions," 20/20 performed the work. By doing so, 20/20 accepted the specific offer communicated by Grange and created a contract at the pricing offered by Grange.

In the world of unilateral contracts, actions speak louder than words. Although 20/20 claims it objected to Grange's quoted price, it chose to do the work. As the Court of Appeals recognized in *Kemper*, it is not the words spoken by the offeree, but the performance of the work that forms the binding contract. *Kemper*, 399 S.C. at 498, 732 S.E.2d at 213. Like the glass repair shop in *Kemper*, the repair shop in *CIM Ins. Corp.* also objected to the pricing. 190 N.C. App. at 812, 660 S.E.2d at 910. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals held the glass repair shop's performance of the work constituted acceptance of the offer. *Id.*

The Washington Court of Appeals also found a unilateral contract is formed when a glass repair company performs repair services after receiving an offer from the insurance company:

Cascade accepted Progressive's offer by performing glass repair work for Progressive's insureds. A unilateral contract exists when one party offers to do a certain thing in exchange for the other party's performance, and performance by the other party constitutes acceptance. Cascade created binding unilateral contracts each time

⁹ 20/20 argues that it did not accept via performance because it did not follow Grange's billing instructions. However, the referral sheets state "Performance of services constitutes acceptance of the communicated price and billing instructions." (R. p. 168) (emphasis added). Thus, it was 20/20's performance of the glass repair services that constituted acceptance. Once the work was performed, the unilateral contract was formed, and 20/20's failure to comply with the billing instructions did not vitiate the contracts.

it repaired or replaced auto glass for Progressive's insureds after receiving Progressive's new offer. Progressive owes the amounts it promised to pay in the [offer] letters; Cascade is entitled to no more than those amounts.

Cascade Auto Glass, Inc. v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co., 145 P.3d 1253, 1257-58 (Wash. Ct. App. 2006) (internal citation omitted).

The facts of this case are identical to those in *Kemper*, and the facts creating a unilateral contract conform to the above cases from North Carolina and Washington. Grange stated the amount it was willing to pay and sent a referral sheet to 20/20 stating that performance constituted acceptance of Grange's offered price. 20/20 performed the work, thereby accepting the offer and creating a unilateral contract at Grange's offered price. Therefore, the courts below properly relied upon *Kemper* and found Grange's payment of the offered price after 20/20 performed the work satisfied Grange's contractual obligations.

B. The Court of Appeals in *Kemper* fully analyzed the case cited by Appellant and correctly found it distinguishable.

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